
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Community Safety and 
Environment Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 28 January 2020 
7.00 pm 

Main Hall (1st Floor) - 3 Shortlands, Hammersmith, W6 8DA 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Bora Kwon (Chair) 
Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor David Morton 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg 
 

Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
 

 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776672845 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy  
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

20 January 2020 Date Issued: 

www.lbhf.gov.uk/Councillors-and-Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Community Safety and Environment 
Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

28 January 2020 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  4 - 11 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 09 September 2019. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 

 

 

4.   2020 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS)  12 - 28 

 This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered 
by this Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is 
also provided on any proposed changes in fees and charges. 
 
 
 

 



5.   REVIEW OF COUNCIL RESPONSE TO MODERN SLAVERY  29 - 35 

 This report highlights the actions Hammersmith & Fulham Council is 
taking to respond to Modern Slavery & Exploitation (in line with the 
requirements as stated in the Modern Slavery Act 2015) and outlines 
the preparations the Community Safety Unit are making to further 
support staff and the community in this response.  
 

 

6.   PARKING ENFORCEMENT IN THE BOROUGH  36 - 67 

 This report provides an overview of parking enforcement in the Borough. 
 

 

7.   WORK PROGRAMME AND DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  68 

 This report sets out the work programme. The next meeting is due to 
take place on 31 March 2020. 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety 
and Environment 

Policy and 
Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Monday 9 September 2019 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, 
Ann Rosenberg and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
 
Other Councillors: Councillors Stephen Cowan (the Leader of the Council), 
Wesley Harcourt (Cabinet Member for the Environment) 
 
Officers: Richard Duffill (Cycling Officer), Chris Bainbridge (Head of Transport 
Policy), Dan Levene (Media Manager), Graham Morrison (Environmental Health 
Officer), Stephanie Needham (Food and Health Safety Manager), Bram Kainth 
(Chief Officer), Russell Butt (Communications Officer) 
 
External:  Tanya & Nadim Ednan Laperouse (Parents of Natasha Ednan 
Laperouse) 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED: 
THAT the minutes of the meeting held on 18 June March 2019 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

4. FOOD ALLERGIES AND OUR ROLE IN THEIR CONTROL  
 
Graham Morrison Environmental Health Officer provided a presentation of the 
Council’s role in controlling food allergies in local businesses. An overview 
was provided of the work that the Food Safety team had carried out to keep 
residents and visitors to the borough, safe. The UK law defined 14 
substances that needed to be clearly labelled or indicated as being present in 
foods. In Britain, these substances were: celery, cereals containing gluten, 
crustaceans, eggs, fish, lupin, milk, mollusc, mustard, nuts, peanuts, sesame 
seeds, soya, and sulphur dioxide. He showed slides that explained the role 
and the bodies response to allergic reactions, anaphylaxis, or anaphylactic 
shock, food intolerance and histamine poisoning. A local case study of a 
customer suffering an anaphylactic shock after eating a takeaway and the 
steps taken by the Council were outlined. The customer reported the case to 
the Council and relevant investigations were carried out by the team. 2 
statutory notices were served on the business and as a result their website 
was updated.  
 
An overview was provided on the Law and regulations relating to food 
allergies. Additionally, the three basic styles of sale to the public were noted. 
These included catering & take-away, pre packed retail (e.g. supermarket), 
and retail made on the premises (e.g. Pret a Manger). Currently legal 
requirements varied across this spectrum. On 4th July 2019 the Food 
Standards Agency (FSA), following consultation with all interested parties, 
issued the following decision. “Mandate the name of the food and full 
ingredient list labelling, with allergens emphasised, on packing of food 
prepacked for direct sale.” The Food Information (Amendment)(England) 
Regulations were laid on 5 September 2019 and would come into effect on 1 
October 2021. Local authorities would be responsible for enforcement as part 
of the routine inspections.  
 
Graham Morrison explained that the Council had a statutory responsibility for 
food hygiene and food standards in all food outlets; this included food 
allergies, of which 14 were listed in the legislation. Routine inspections were 
made on a risk-based schedule and complaints were investigated as they 
occurred and appropriate action was taken. There were many different 
theories suggesting why allergies occurred, however the issue had not been 
resolved. There had been an increase in reporting and going forward, officers 
would ensure that the website was updated to raise awareness of what 
questions needed to be asked when ordering food to minimise risk.  
 
The Chair welcomed Tanya & Nadim Ednan Laperouse, parents of Natasha 
Ednan Laperouse who had a fatal allergic reaction after eating a partially 
labelled baguette, containing sesame. Mr and Mrs Ednan Laperouse 
commented that they were pleased to note that under ‘Natasha’s law’, food 
businesses would have to include full ingredients labelling on pre-packaged 
food. The law was set to come into force by Summer 2021 and businesses 
would be given a two-year implementation period to adapt to the changes. It 
was noted that according to data relating to food allergies, this affected 5-7% 
of infants and 1-2% of UK adults, extreme cases had resulted in fatalities, 
therefore this needed to be taken seriously.  
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Tanya & Nadim Ednan Laperouse felt that businesses needed to do more 
work around cross contamination and clearly labelling pre-prepared food and 
menus of any food allergies. Both parents supported the work carried out by 
the Council and noted that awareness and academic support was vital to 
tackle this issue, whilst developing new therapies that would offer hope for 
effective allergy treatments.  
 
The Chair thanked Mr and Mrs Ednan Laperouse for sharing their story with 
the Committee and was pleased to note that ‘Natasha’s law’ was due to come 
into force by 2021. In addition, she offered the support of the Council for this 
cause. 
 
Councillor Iain Cassidy enquired whether smaller companies were being as 
proactive as larger ones.  In response Graham Morrison explained that larger 
companies were taking this matter seriously, however staff required more 
training. This issue was more challenging to tackle amongst smaller 
businesses due to the challenges faced around complicated and lengthy 
menus. It was noted that the warnings needed to be displayed in obvious 
locations and the Council took formal action where businesses failed to 
comply. A substantial more intensive piece of work was due to take place in 
2020 to address some of the key concerns within the borough. 
 
Councillor David Morton asked if food allergies predominately affected 
Western European countries or was this a broader concern. Graham Morrison 
explained that this was a wider issue affecting many countries globally.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler queried how many Council officers 
undertook allergen related work. Stephanie Needham, Interim Head of 
Environmental Health noted that there were 4 full time equivalent (FTE) posts. 
In addition, the Council had also secured Section 106 funding for a Food 
Environment Health Officer (EHO), however this was for the current financial 
year 2019/20 and was specific to Westfield. There were 2000 registered 
premises in the borough and each year the Council had a duty to inspect a 
set amount of businesses to ensure that their practices minimised the risk of 
harm to the consumer. Part of complying with food safety was managing food 
hygiene and food standards 
 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg felt that food allergies was a growing issue, 
particularly in Western Europe and asked if businesses could use adequate 
signing and label each item going forward. Graham Morrison said that most 
businesses displayed a small text on their lengthy menus, however this was 
often overlooked. It was essential for businesses to ask customers if they had 
any allergies at the beginning of their order and provide them with a menu 
chart to minimise risk. 
 
The Chair asked how regularly the food hygiene and food standards 
inspections were carried out. In response Graham Morrison explained that 
statutory food hygiene and food standards inspections were a principle tool in 
the prevention of food incidents including allergies. Food hygiene inspections 
were carried out at least every 6 months for businesses that posed a high 
risk. Food standards inspections must be made at least every 12 months for 
highest risk businesses and at least every 5 years for lower risk businesses. 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

As food safety and food standards inspection timing was not coincident, 
officers looked at the robustness of allergy systems regardless of the next 
scheduled food standards inspection. In addition, labelling menus were 
examined during routine sampling programmes.  
 
A resident queried if there was a website available to check details relating to 
allergies e.g. if he was hosting a dinner for a group of people at his house. 
Graham Morrison explained that the law required the 14 food allergens to be 
outlined in bold on packaging, therefore it would be important to check the 
labels before purchasing food items. In addition, it would also be useful to 
directly ask people of any specific allergies. Additionally, the Council was 
updating the website to ensure the latest information was provided, including 
new developments on this matter.  
 
RESOLVED 
THAT the Committee noted and commented on the key importance and 
potential impact of this issue and the ongoing work of officers.  
 
 

5. SAFER CYCLE PATHWAY AND A4 CYCLE HIGHWAY  
 
Richard Duffill, Cycling Officer provided an update on the Council’s proposals 
on safer cycle pathway, including a cycle highway alongside the A4 and noted 
the following key points: 
 

- The Council would ensure that the design met all the needs of its 
disabled and less mobile residents as well as businesses in the 
borough.  

- The pathway would be designed to suit slower, less confident riders 
and families. 

- It would be designed to improve the environment and protect the high 
numbers of pedestrians in the borough. 

- The design would seek to maximise pedestrian space and make the 
transition from pavement to pavement safe and usable for everyone. 

- The A4 cycle highway would shuttle faster, more confident riders and 
commuters from the border with Chiswick to the Hammersmith 
gyratory. This provided an alternative route away from the high street.  

- The Council was committed on delivering a healthy streets approach. 
This aimed to encourage walking, cycling and the use of public 
transport to tackle poor air quality and reduce car dependency.  

 
Richard Duffill, Cycling Officer explained that the Council welcomed the 
opportunity to engage with residents, businesses and disabled groups to feed 
into the design process before it was finalised. To achieve this resident, 
working groups and drop-in sessions for all stakeholders would be arranged. 
At these staff would be available to explain the planning proposals and 
particularly to listen to residents about their views around the development of 
the scheme. All the suggestions would be gathered for the design and series 
of working group workshops would be held with the aim to create a final 
design for the route. Furthermore, approval would be sought from each 
working group to proceed with the design.  
 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Councillor David Morton commented that whilst he agreed with the worthy 
objectives of the presentation, the concerns relating to the potential traffic 
implications along Hammersmith Road as a result of safer cycle pathway and 
potential developments in the Olympia area needed to be addressed. Richard 
Duffill explained that the Council had agreed with Transport for London (TfL) 
to build a fully segregated safer cycle pathway running across the borough 
from Chiswick down King Street and Hammersmith Road to Kensington 
Olympia. TfL had designed an outlined scheme, however at this stage the 
Council was unable to add to these designs until it fully understood the 
Olympia proposals and what residents wanted to achieve. Drop in sessions 
would be arranged to encourage engagement and clarify issues concerning 
residents and input into the detailed design for the two routes. In addition, it 
was noted that the final designs would factor in the redevelopment of Olympia 
once this was established.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler enquired if there was an option for the 
Council to not implement the scheme if residents were not in favour of the 
proposals. In response Richard Duffill explained that the Council was 
committed to developing two new cycle routes providing better, safer cycling 
facilities combined with improvements for pedestrians. The route would be 
designed to improve the environment in consultation with all stakeholders. In 
addition, residents would have the opportunity to feed into the final designs. 
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler asked what the cost of the 
engagement process was. In response Richard Duffill explained that the 
Council was still in the process of finalising these figures and these would be 
circulated to Committee members as soon as they were available.  
 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg asked if the new designs would include the use of 
motorised scooters. Richard Duffill explained that officers were currently 
carrying out a piece of work to establish the safety arrangements for these 
types of devices within the borough. The Council was also working with other 
London Boroughs to create a new Bye-law to control Dockless bikes and 
other travel devices in the borough. This would be developed by the end of 
the year. Furthermore, Electric scooters were not legal for roads and some 
boroughs were using heavy enforcement on these. The Department for 
Transport (DfT) were currently reviewing the legalities of scooters on roads 
and highways. A decision would be made in 2020.  
 
A resident commented that the accessibility needs for disabled people who 
wished to cycle in the borough needed to be factored into the scheme. 
Richard Duffill said that the aim of the drop-in sessions was to gain an in 
depth understanding of what residents wanted to achieve to develop the 
scheme. Furthermore, the Council recognised these needs, therefore a safer 
segregated cycle pathway would aim to provide mobility for disability vehicles.  
 
A resident commented that during a Community Safety and Environment 
(CSE) PAC meeting in 2018, residents made some strong suggestions and 
asked for these to be taken into consideration in the final designs, particularly 
concerns around traffic impact as a result of the safety cycle pathway. 
 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

A representative from Wendell Park Primary school welcomed the proposals 
and was pleased to hear that schools and nurseries also had the opportunity 
to share their views and was keen to feed into the final designs via the drop-in 
sessions to help develop the scheme. 
  
A resident commented that being a cyclist himself he felt that the cycle route 
was situated in the right place for his particular commute. He also noted that 
data suggested that car pollution decreased as a result of the cycle super 
highway in Embankment. He felt that this aimed to provide a sustainable 
environment for London as a whole therefore welcomed the Councils 
proposals.  
 
A Resident expressed his concerns around bus stop bypasses. He asked 
whether the Council had any plans to reduce bus stops within the borough to 
speed up traffic, especially around King Street. Richard Duffill explained the 
disability workshop would aim to discuss and understand the issues and 
concerns of residents. Accessibility to different transport means for disabled 
people, including mobility was critical for the Council. The Council would 
initially implement two bus stops bypasses at two different locations, however 
where possible the Council would relocate a bus stop for improved 
accessibility if this was necessary.  
 
A resident commented that he was pro cycling. However, was not in favour of 
the TfL segregated cycle routes and felt that the scheme was flawed due to 
the following reasons: 
 

- According to department for transport (DfT) figures 96% of residents in 
the borough were road users and 4% were cyclists. Therefore, felt that 
this scheme would provide exclusivity to a smaller proportion of 
residents compared to those who used other methods of 
transportation. 

- Felt it would create more traffic implications along Hammersmith Road 
due to the reduction of bus journeys and there would be no 
improvement on air pollution.  

- Felt it was anti-democratic as many residents were not in favour of the 
scheme. 

- Noted that according to TfL’s study on the scheme there would be no 
improvement in air pollution. 

- Raised some concerns around the safety of the scheme. 
 
Councillor Iain Cassidy commented that he had lived in the Netherlands and 
used cycling as a means of transport to and from work on a regular basis by 
using safe bi directional cycle pathways. More women in the Netherlands 
were likely to cycle compared to men and the peak age of women that cycled 
was 72 years old. This was due to the infrastructure which allowed people to 
make safer cycle journeys. However, in London people were less likely to 
cycle because they felt unsafe and frightened. Therefore, implementing a 
safer cycle pathway would enable more people to cycle, especially women 
and, children. Additionally, by encouraging safer cycling in London, this would 
help reduce issues surrounding obesity and air quality.  
 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Many residents echoed Councillor Iain Cassidy’s views and noted that they 
were broadly in favour of the scheme. Residents felt that people were less 
likely to cycle due to the lack of non-segregated routes across London. 
Additionally, motorised traffic needed to be discouraged to reduce air pollution 
and if safer cycle lanes were added, some of the pollution would evaporate as 
more people would use cycling as an option for transport. Residents were 
also delighted to hear that women were in favour of this scheme and noted 
that it was an important step to ensure that the borough was combating 
climate change and cutting CO2 emissions.  
 
A resident asked what the average speed was for segregated cycle pathways 
in London. In response Councillor Iain Cassidy said that this was 9.8 miles 
per hour. 
 
John Griffiths, HF Cyclists expressed concerns around pedestrian safety and 
traffic implications on Hammersmith Road as this would create big queues for 
buses on North End Road. He asked if a risk assessment had been carried 
out. Richard Duffill explained that two safety audits had been carried out and 
these would be shared with residents.  
 
A number of residents expressed their concerns around bi directional traffic 
and the safety of pedestrians. Furthermore, the speed of cyclists, the location 
of bus stops and how these would impact pedestrians were all raised as key 
issues.  
 
The Leader took a moment to thank everyone for sharing their views with the 
Committee. He raised concerns around the current condition of the 
environment and noted that this needed to be improved. Therefore, it was 
essential for the Council to encourage more people to travel safely and 
reduce the use of motorised vehicles in the urban sectors. The scheme 
proposed an A4 cycle highway for the use of faster more confident cyclists 
and a safer cycle pathway along King Street and Hammersmith Road to 
enable a better space for all residents. He explained that the Council would 
work in collaboration with residents to iron out any concerns and a suitable 
plan would be put in place to tackle some of the most important concerns, 
including climate change. He highlighted that the current situation was not 
sustainable and made references in support of Greta Thunberg, an 
environmental activist who was credited with raising global awareness of the 
risks posed by climate change. 
 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt commented that the Council was committed to 
making the borough a better place to live for residents and offered 
reassurances that all feedback received would be considered. It was noted 
that Councillor Wesley Harcourt intended to work closely with the working 
groups and was determined to find a solution to all the concerns raised to 
meet the needs of residents.  
 
RESOLVED: 
THAT the all members except Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
endorsed the proposed engagement plan. 
 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

THAT, any comments received from the meeting were incorporated into any 
engagement plans.  
 
 

6. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
RESOLVED: 
THAT the Committee noted the work programme. 
 

8. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
 
RESOLVED: 
THAT under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the 
public and press was excluded from the meeting during the consideration of 
the following items of business, on the grounds that they contain the likely 
disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

9. EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
THAT the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 18 June March 2019 were 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7:00pm 
Meeting ended: 9:15pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 

Contact officer: Amrita Gill 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776672845 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 11



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:   Community Safety and Environment Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:  28/01/2020 
 
Subject: 2020 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
 
Report of: Cabinet Member for the Environment – Councillor Wesley Harcourt 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services – Councillor Max 
Schmid  

 
Responsible Director: Strategic Director for the Environment 
 Strategic Director of Finance and Governance 
 

 
 Summary 
 
 Cabinet will present their revenue budget and council tax proposals to 

Budget Council on 26th February 2020. A balanced budget will be set in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by this 
Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is also provided on 
any proposed changes in fees and charges. 

 
 Recommendations 
 

1. That the Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) considers the budget 
proposals and makes recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 

 
2. That the PAC considers the proposed changes to fees and charges and 

makes recommendations as appropriate.  
 

 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 

H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

We need to always confirm that spend fits 
our Council’s priorities; challenge how much 
needs to be spent; and achieve results 
within agreed budgets. Finance is 
everyone’s business and every penny 
counts.   

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name:  Emily Hill  
Position: Assistant Director, Finance  
Telephone: 020 8753 3145 
Email:  emily.hill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name:   Andrew Lord  
Position:  Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring 
Telephone: 020 8753 2531 
Email:  andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name:   Kellie Gooch   
Position:  Head of Finance – The Environment 
Telephone: 020 8753 2203 
Email:  Kellie.gooch@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
Not Applicable 
 

 
Proposals and Detailed Analysis 

 
The Budget Gap 

 
1.1. The 2020/21 gross General Fund budget1 is £525m of which the net budget 

requirement of £154.3m is funded from council resources (such as council 
tax and business rates) and general government grant. 
 
Table 1 – 2020/21 budget requirement  
 

Budgeted expenditure £m 

Housing benefit payments 110 

Departmental budgets 415 

Gross budgeted expenditure 525 

Less:  

Specific government grants (including housing 
benefits and dedicated schools grant) 

(234.5) 

Fees and charges (65) 

Contributions (e.g. health, other boroughs) (49) 

Other income (e.g. investment interest, rentals 
and recharges ) 

(22.2) 

Budget requirement rolled forward to 
2020/21 

154.3 

                                            
1
 Figures exclude capital charges and internal service level agreements. These have a net nil impact on 

the budget. 

Page 13

mailto:andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Kellie.gooch@lbhf.gov.uk


 
1.2. The budget proposals  for 2020/21, and forecast to 2023/24, are summarised 

in Table 2. A balanced budget is proposed for 2020/21 with a contribution to 
reserves arising from one-off/ non-recurrent benefits, to enhance financial 
resilience, of £7.2m. 

 
Table 2 - Budget Summary  

 

  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £m £m £m £m 

Base budget 154.3 154.3 154.3 154.3 

Add:         

Cumulative inflation 
(including pay awards) 

4.2 8.4 12.6 16.8 

Provision for future demand 
& demographic pressures 

0 4.0 8.0 12.0 

Investment 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.3 

Increase in the unallocated 
contingency 

0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 

Savings and additional 
income 

-12.8 -13.5 -14.2 -14.2 

Adjustment for one off items 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 

Contribution to reserves 7.2 0 0 0 

Budgeted expenditure 162.2 162.5 170.0 178.2 

Less:         

Government resources (34.2) (34.2) (34.2) (34.2) 

Business rates (57.2) (57.2) (57.2) (57.2) 

Fair funding impact 
(estimate) 

0 4.0 8.0 12.0 

Council tax  (63.8) (64.4) (65.0) (65.6) 

One-off use of resources (5.3) 0 0 0 

Use of developer 
contributions for enhanced 
community safety 

(1.7) (1.7) (1.7) (1.7) 

Budgeted resources (162.2) (153.5) (150.1) (146.7) 

Cumulative budget gap  0 9.0 19.9 31.5 

 
Budget Assumptions 
 

1.3. Government grant funding will increase by £3.6m from 2019/20 to 2020/21 
as a result of the Government’s pre-election spending round in September 
2019. This increase follows a decade of grant cuts with overall funding 

Page 14



reducing by £68m from 2010/11 to 2020/21. This was a real terms funding cut 
of 54%. 
 

1.4. However, the government have indicated they will undertake what they are 
terming a ‘fair funding review’ in 2020/21. This has the remit of reconsidering 
how grant is distributed between authorities. It is likely to be bad news for 
Hammersmith and Fulham and other London authorities as it is anticipated 
that resources will be redistributed away from inner city areas, which have 
traditionally received funding to address higher levels of deprivation, to other 
parts of the country with lower levels of deprivation. The Council will 
campaign vigorously against any such distribution away from areas of higher 
need.  
 

1.5. The government has modelled an adult social care precept since 
2016/17. In the first years of the levy, the Council determined not to apply the 
levy in Hammersmith and Fulham, despite the fact the Council’s funding from 
government was modelled on the assumption that we would. Due to the 
continued high levels of inflation in the social care market and the 
government’s continued failure to propose a long-term funding solution to 
social care funding, the Council proposes to allow 2% of the government’s 
adult social care levy for 2020/21. The total levy increase for Hammersmith 
and Fulham over the 5 years to 2020/21 will be 4% compared to the 10% 
increase assumed by the government. The Council is committed to using 
such funding to support adult social care.  

 
1.6. An increase in the Hammersmith & Fulham element of council tax of 

1.99% is modelled for 2020/21. This will generate extra income of £1.2m in 
2020/21 and £4.9m over a four-year period. This will support investment in 
key services for residents and future financial resilience. The Hammersmith 
and Fulham Band D Council Tax charge is the third lowest in the country and 
35% below the London average. This is significantly below the July 2019 
Retail Price Index inflation used for the Council’s financial planning.  
 

1.7. The business rates system, as set out in Table 3, is changing for a fourth 
successive year. For 2020/21 the government have ended the pilot London 
Business Rates pool with the share of business rates retained by LBHF 
reverting to 30%.  

  

Page 15



 
Table 3 – Business Rates Retention Scheme 
 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Hammersmith & Fulham 30% 64% 48% 30% 

Greater London Authority 37% 36% 27% 37% 

Government 33% 0 25% 33% 

Pool arrangements None 100% 
pilot pool 

75% pilot 
pool 

Potential 
London 

pool 

Business rates revaluation Yes No No No 

H & F income (net of tariffs and adjusted on a like for like basis) 

H & F share of business 
rates 

£59.5m £56.5m £57.0m £57.2m 

Pool benefit (1-year lag i.e. 
2018/19 benefit recognised 
in 2019/20) 

0 0 £4.3m 
(£2.3m to 
reserves) 

£1.9m 
(to 

reserves) 
 

Assumed in 
budget/contribution to 
reserves 

£59.5m £56.5m £61.3m £59.1m 

 
1.8. London Local Government took forward a 100% business rates retention pilot 

in April 2018. This pooled business rates income across the 33 London 
Boroughs and GLA with all growth shared. The government reduced this to a 
75% pilot in 2019/20 and have announced it will cease for 2020/21. 
 

1.9. Current modelling forecasts that Hammersmith and Fulham will benefit by 
£1.9m from the 2019/20 pilot and this is assumed within the 2020/21 budget. 
As the pilot has ceased, the expected benefit is a one-off sum and therefore 
will be taken to reserves. The actual benefit will not be confirmed until 
September 2020. 

 
1.10. London Local Government is developing a new pooling arrangement, without 

government support, for 2020/21. The financial benefit will be significantly less 
(as the government will take a higher proportion of the income raised and 
growth). No benefit is assumed from a possible new 2020/21 pool within the 
current budget forecast. Any benefit will be considered within the 2021/22 
budget process. 

 
1.11. Table 4 sets out the business rates budget for 2019/20 and 2020/21. The 

business rates system sets a safety net threshold which guarantees a 
minimum income to the Council. The 2017 business rates revaluation resulted 

Page 16



in a high-level of rates appeals by businesses in LBHF. This has required the 
Council’s share of business rates income to be budgeted at the safety net 
threshold of £57.2m. The safety net threshold is set at 92.5% of the funding 
baseline (compared to 95% in the pool) resulting in a lower guaranteed 
income from business rates.   

 
1.12. The instability in the government’s approach to business rates makes 

medium-term financial planning difficult. 
 

 
Table 4: Comparison between 2019/20 and 2020/21 business rates 
income 

 

  2019/20 2020/21 

 £m £m 

Business rates baseline  123.0 78.0 

Tariff payable to the government (45.0) (16.1) 

Funding baseline 78.0 61.9 

Safety net threshold (included in LBHF budget) 74.1 57.2 

Less Revenue Support Grant collected within business rates in 
2019/20 

(17.1) 0 

Budgeted business rates  57.0 57.2 

 
 
1.11 An updated forecast for business rates will be undertaken by all Boroughs in         

January 2020. This will confirm the Hammersmith and Fulham 2020/21 estimate 
and provide more clarity on the potential benefits from the 2019/20 pilot pool 
arrangements.  

 
1.12 Developer Contributions. Planning obligations under s.106 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), known as s.106 agreements, are a 
mechanism which make a development proposal acceptable in planning terms, 
that would not otherwise be acceptable. They are focused on site specific 
mitigation of the impact of development. Property developments have placed 
increased pressure on council services in recent years.  

 
1.13 Local planning authorities are required to use the funding in accordance with the 

terms of the individual planning obligation legal agreement. This will ensure new 
developments are acceptable; benefit local communities and support the 
provision of local infrastructure. In LBHF there are three broad categories of 
s.106 contributions received: 

 for a specific purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement (such 

as specific highway works) 

 for a general functional purpose defined and described in the s.106 

agreement but with geographical constraints (such as provision of 

community infrastructure in the White City area) 

Page 17



 for a general purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement but 

with no borough geographical constraints (such as economic development, 

education purposes, community safety initiatives etc). 

1.15 Provided the Council respects the obligation to maintain a reasonable 
relationship with the developments and complies with the specific terms of each 
of the s.106 agreements giving rise to the funds, the Council has a degree of 
discretion as to how it allocates and spends some of the general purpose funds.  
The Council has determined that a key priority area for the investment of 
available s.106 funds with general purposes is the provision of enhanced 
community safety arrangements. The 2020/21 budget assumes that 
contributions of £1.7m are invested to fund enhanced arrangements in this area 
and this can be met from receipts currently in hand. 

  
1.16 A number of s.106 agreements have been negotiated which will result in the 

receipt of additional funds in the future. There is a level of uncertainty around the 
receipt of future s.106 funds as this relies on developments commencing and 
achieving specified trigger points. The Council will continue to monitor the receipt 
of s.106 funds expected in the short and medium term, where the level of 
uncertainty around trigger points increases, and is developing a strategic 
approach for investment of future s.106 funds. 

 
1.17 Inflation. A national pay award has yet to be agreed for 2020/21. Provision is 

made within the budget for an increase of up to 2% (£1.7m) and this will be held 
corporately until a national agreement is reached on the annual pay award. 
Inflation of £2.6m has also been provided, on a case by case basis, to meet 
contractual requirements. 

 
 
 
INVESTMENT, SAVINGS AND RISKS 

 
1.18 Investment in services and savings proposals for the services covered by this   

 PAC are set out in Appendix 1 with budget risks set out in Appendix 2. 
 

Investment  
 

1.19 Investment in services is summarised by department in Table 5 and by 
 category in Table 6. 

 
Table 5: 2020/21 Investment Proposals 
 

Department £m 

Children's Services 5.5 

The Environment Department 0.5 

Public Services Reform 0.1 

Social Care 0.7 

Council Wide 1.5 

Total 8.3 

Page 18



 
Table 6: Categorisation of investment proposals  
 

 £m 

Increase in demand/demographic growth 6.4 

Resident priority 1.9 

Total 8.3 

 
 Savings 
 
1.20 The Council faces a continuing financial challenge due to overall Central  

Government funding cuts, unfunded burdens, inflation, and demand and 
growth  pressures. The budget gap will increase in each of the next three 
years if no action is taken to reduce expenditure, generate more income 
through commercial revenue and continue to grow the number of dwellings 
and businesses in the borough. 
 

1.21 To proposed savings (including additional income) for 2020/21 are set out by 
department in Table 7. 

 
  Table 7: 2020/21 savings and additional income 
 

Department £m 

Children's Services (0.8) 

Finance & Governance (4.5) 

The Economy Department (0.8) 

Public Services Reform (0.3) 

The Environment Department (1.0) 

Social Care (2.5) 

Council Wide  (2.9) 

Savings (12.8) 

 
1.22 The saving proposals are categorised by savings area in Table 8. 
 

  Table 8: Categorisation of 2020/21 savings  
 

 £’m 

Service rationalisation/budget reduced in line with spend (3.0) 

Commercialisation / Income  (2.0) 

Debt reduction and restructuring (0.3) 

Pension - triennial Valuation (2.1) 

Prevention (1.5) 

Procurement / Commissioning (0.8) 

Service reconfiguration (0.9) 

Staffing / Productivity (2.2) 

Total All Savings (12.8) 

 
  

Page 19



 
Risk, revenue balances and earmarked reserves 

 
1.23 The Council’s General Fund gross budget is £525m. Within a budget of this 

magnitude there are inevitably areas of risk and uncertainty particularly within 
the current challenging financial environment. The key financial risks that face 
the Council have been identified and quantified. They total £18.5m. Financial 
risks of £24m were identified when the 2019/20 budget was set. 

 
1.24 Reserves play a crucial role in good public financial management. They exist so that 

a council can make one off investment in service transformation for the future or to 
respond to one off unexpected events or emerging needs. They are the foundation 
for good financial management and resilience. As one-off resources they can only be 
spent once. 

 
1.25 As part of the Audit Findings Report for the year ended 31 March 2019 the Council’s 

external auditors (Grant Thornton) commented on the level of the Council’s reserves: 
 
 ‘The Council’s reserves level is of concern as there doesn’t appear to be sufficient 

cushion to weather the ongoing financial challenges that the Council will face over 
the medium term due to reductions in central government funding and forecast 
pressures of the DSG funding. The Council only has finite reserves available and it 
is important that you continue to maintain appropriate budgetary control. It cannot 
be stressed enough how important it is to have a fall back position to address the 
challenges of the future.  We have seen a number of Councils reach the financial 
precipice and members have a fiduciary duty to ensure the Council retains financial 
sustainability.  We would strongly recommend that use of reserves remains limited 
in future years other than for specifically earmarked schemes.’ 

 
1.26 The Council has put in place a reserves strategy to ensure effective oversight 

regarding the level and use of reserves and established an action plan to 
maintain reserves at an appropriate level. In accordance with the action plan, 
the 2020/21 budget proposals include new one-off contributions to reserves 
of £7.2m.    

 
General fund balances 

 
1.27 The Council’s general balance stood at £19m as at 1 April 2019 and it is 

currently projected that this will not reduce in the current financial year. This 
will leave general balances at 3.6% (equivalent to 13 days spend) of the 
Council’s gross budget of £525m.   

 
1.28 Given the on-going scale of change in local government funding, and risks facing the 

Council, the Strategic Director, Finance and Governance  considers that general 
balances need to be maintained within the range of £14m to £20m. The optimal level 
is projected to be broadly met over the next 4 years and is, in the Strategic Director’s, 
Finance and Governance, view sufficient to allow for the risks identified and to 
support effective medium-term financial planning.  

 
 

Page 20



 Earmarked reserves 
 
1.29 The Council holds a number of one-off earmarked reserves. The latest 

forecast to 2023/24 is set out in Table 9. In the Strategic Director’s, Finance 
and Governance, view such reserves are adequate to deal with anticipated 
risks and liabilities. 

 
Table 9:  Reserves forecast to 2022/23 
 

 

 Opening 
balance 
2019/20 

Budgeted 
contributions 

to 2023/24 
Commitments 

to 2023/24 

 
Total 

2023/24 

 
£m £m £m £m 

Earmarked reserves 44.8 36.1 (37.4) 43.5 

New contributions in the 
2020/21 budget 

   7.2 

Forecast earmarked 
reserves 

   50.7 

General balances 19.0   19.0 

Earmarked restricted 
reserves 

17.5  (7.7) 9.8 

Current year forecast 
overspend 

   (9.5) 

Other potential uses of 
reserves  

   (28.6) 

Total reserves  41.4 

 
1.30 The existing commitments include the planned investment of earmarked 

reserves on council priorities (for example implementing the Information 
Technology strategy and incentive payments to landlords).  

 
1.31 Net General Fund reserves of £6m are set  aside for the civic campus scheme. 

This is based, in line with the current programme, on funding of lease costs for 
a 3.5 year relocation. The call on general fund reserves would increase  by 
£5.9m if relocation was deferred to 5 years. The scheme benefits include 
efficiencies in delivering modern, inclusively designed and fit-for-purpose office 
and civic accommodation for its staff and visitors, as well as for small and 
start-up businesses. It also avoids the need for significant capital investment in 
the existing Town Hall and Town Hall Extension, which in 2017 was estimated 
at between £29.2m and £53.5m for both buildings, depending on the extent of 
refurbishment works undertaken and excluded professional fees (estimated to 
be at least £2m) and the cost of decanting staff to allow works to take place. 

 
1.32 The other potential uses for reserves includes allowance for a future shortfall in 

funding for pupils with high needs.  For Hammersmith and Fulham, there 
was a cumulative shortfall in the Dedicated Schools Grant (from government) 
provided to fund expenditure on pupils with high needs of £13.8m at the close 
of 2018/19. The Council is developing options for a deficit recovery plan and 
estimates that it will receive extra grant of £2.9m from 2020/21 onwards. 

Page 21



Despite this funding increase, demographic and other pressures, require that a 
further £15m be set aside regarding the shortfall for the current year and next 
4 years. The Council is also discussing with auditors how this should be 
treated on the Council’s Balance sheet following a consultation by the 
Education Funding and Skills Agency. Pending further clarification, the Council 
has prudently set aside a reserve to cover the potential deficit. 

 
1.33 The Strategic Director, Finance and Governance considers that current reserves 

are adequate to deal with anticipated risks and liabilities. Reserves can only be 
spent once and the forecast to 2023/24 identifies a tightening in the Council’s 
finances that will need careful management and review. Continued focus will be 
required on keeping spend within budget, avoiding the use of reserves to balance 
future budgets and on rebuilding reserves to support future investments and 
priorities. 

 
 FEES AND CHARGES 
 
1.34  The budget assumes these are: 

 
- Frozen for Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Housing.  

- A standard uplift of 2.8% based on the July 2019 Retail Price Index applied 

for other non-Commercial and non-parking fees. 

- Commercial services that are charged on a for-profit basis, will be reviewed 

on an ongoing basis in response to market conditions and varied up and 

down as appropriate, with appropriate authorisations according to the Council 

constitution.  

- Parking charges and fines are set in line with transport policy objectives and 
are not considered as part of the budget process. 

There are no exceptions to these assumptions for this Committee. 

 
2020/21 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS 

 
1.35 The administration proposes to increase the Hammersmith & Fulham element 

of council tax by 1.99% for 2020/21. The Band D charge will be £792.42. This 
is significantly below the July 2019 Retail Price Index inflation used for the 
Council’s financial planning.  

 
1.36 This will result in a net cash terms increase of 3.7% since 2014/15 and 

compares to real terms inflation2 of 15% over the same period. Unlike before 
2014, no grant has been offered by government to councils who freeze or cut 
council tax. Instead, since 2014/15 the government, within the grant process, 
have assumed a Council tax increase of 12.6%. The 1.99% increase will 
generate extra income of £1.2m in 2020/21 and £4.9m over a four-year period. 

                                            
2
 As measured by movement in the Retail Price Index 

Page 22



This will support investment in, and protect, key services for residents and 
strengthen future financial resilience. 

 
1.37 As set out below, 53% of dwellings are liable for 100% council tax with 

exemptions/discounts for council tax support claimants, students, care leavers 
and single person households. 

 
Table 9:  Liability for council tax 
 

Total dwellings in the borough 90,500 

Reductions:  

Exemptions (mainly students, includes care leavers) (4,000) 

Council tax support claimants (elderly & working age on low 
income) 

(11,400) 

Single person discount (25% discount) (27,500) 

Dwellings liable for 100% of council tax  47,600 
53% 

 

 
1.37 The government’s modelled adult social care precept levy of 2% will 

generate additional income of £4.9m over 4 years and £1.22m in 2020/21. This 
will increase the Band D Council Tax charge by £15.24 per annum (4.2p per 
day).  
 

1.38 The overall increase in the LBHF element of the Band D charge, including the 
government’s modelled 2% adult social care precept, is £30.40 (8.3p per day). 

 
Table 10: LBHF Band D Council Tax Charge 
 

2019/20 LBHF Band D charge £762.02 

Proposed H&F Element Increase of 1.99% £15.16 

Proposed Adult Social Care precept of 2% £15.24 

2020/21 Total LBHF Band D charge £792.42 

 
Comments of the Strategic Director for the Environment on the budget 
proposals 

 
1.39 The proposed budget for 2020/21 reflects the return to sovereign services 

(following the disaggregation from RBKC during 2019/20) and the wider 
reorganisation of the Environment Department. The return to sovereign 
services has been achieved within existing budgets from 2020/21, avoiding the 
need for further investment.   
 

1.40 The proposed budget for 2020/21 is summarised at directorate level in Table 
11 below. The controllable expenditure budget is £69.998m, of which 
£22.948m is expected to be recovered through income. The total controllable 
net budget is therefore £47.050m. In addition to this, corporate charges and 
income, which are not controlled by the service group, total a net £20.020m.  

  

Page 23



 
Table 11 – The Environment Budget 2020/21  

 

 
* Savings and investment are included in the budget figures in the table 

1.41 As summarised in the table above (and detailed in Appendix 1), the proposed 
budget includes new savings proposals totalling £0.224m. In addition to this, 
the department is progressing plans to reduce spend by a further £1.7m from 
2020/21, in order to align net spend with existing budgets (i.e. remove the 
existing £1.7m overspend reported in 2019/20). As such, the department is 
targeting a reduction in net spend of £1.9m from 2020/21. 
 

1.42 The proposed savings are to be delivered through a combination of income 
growth and reductions in spend. Income growth of £35,000 is targeted in 
Community Safety and Regulatory Services, to be delivered by the Pest 
Control service. The new Leisure contract will deliver savings of £174,000, 
enabling council leisure centres to be provided at no cost to the council. In 
Public Realm, the installation of intelligent street lighting will enable improved 
energy management, saving £15,000 in the first year (increasing to £94,000 
annually from year two). 
 
Parking 
 

1.43 The Parking Service has recently moved from a shared to a sovereign 
service. The new sovereign structure is taking shape - parking teams are fully 
focused on continuing to deliver a high-quality service that delivers the 
Council’s priorities in relation to climate change and maintaining the 
highway/transport infrastructure. 
 

1.44 As set out in table 12 below, the Parking service is proposing a controllable 
expenditure budget of £10.552m for 2020/21, of which £39.744m is expected 
to be recovered through income. In addition to this, corporate charges, which 
are not controlled by the service group, total £0.588m. The net budgeted 
surplus will fund related spend elsewhere in the council, as permitted by The 
Traffic Management Act. The continued roll out of cashless parking and other 
operational changes has resulted in further efficiencies in the parking service. 
The parking budgets have been realigned to reflect this, delivering a proposed 
budgetary saving of £0.750m from 2020/21. 

  

Directorate Expenditure Income
Net Budget 

2020/21

Savings 

2020/21*

Community Safety and Regulatory Services 10,435 -4,770 5,665 -35

Leisure, Sports and Culture 9,036 -5,747 3,288 -174

Public Realm 33,586 -10,659 22,927 -15

Resident Services 16,941 -1,771 15,170 -                     

Total Controllable Budgets 69,998 -22,948 47,050 -224

Capital Charges 13,680 -                     13,680 -                     

Corporate and Departmental Overheads 10,045 -3,705 6,340 -                     

Total Corporately Managed Budgets 23,725 -3,705 20,020 -                     

Total Environment Budgets 93,723 -26,653 67,069 -224

Page 24



 
Table 12 – Parking Budget 2020/21 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Equality Implications 

 
1.45 The savings proposals for the Environment Department are expected to have a 

neutral impact on those with protected characteristics. 
 
1.46 A draft Equality Impact Analysis (EIA), which assesses the impacts on equality of 

the main items in the budget proposals relevant to this PAC, is attached as 
Appendix 3. A final EIA will be reported to Budget Council. 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None    

 
 
List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Savings and investment proposals 
 
Appendix 2 – Risks 
 
Appendix 3 – Draft Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
 

 

Expenditure Income
Net Budget 

2020/21

Savings 

2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

Total Controllable Budget 10,552 -39,744 -29,192 -750

Corporately Managed Budgets 559 0 559 0

Capital Charges 30 0 30 0

Total Capital & Corporately Managed Budgets 588 0 588 0

Total Parking Budget 11,141 -39,744 -28,604 -750

Parking

Page 25



1 of 1

The Environment Department Appendix 1

Ref 

Nos
Service  

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2023-24 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

1 Leisure Contract New Leisure Contract L (174) (275) (342) (342)

2
Highway Street 

Lighting
Intelligent street lighting energy management M (15) (94) (97) (97)

3 Pest Control Maximise pest control income M (35) (70) (70) (70)

4 Parking
Realign budgets in line with existing income 

and expenditure
L (750) (750) (750) (750)

(974) (1,189) (1,259) (1,259)

Ref 

Nos
Service Title & Theme

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2023-24 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

ENVG1
Emergency 

Planning

Enhanced service (currently 2 unfunded 

posts)
58 58 58 58

ENVG2 Libraries Investment in libraries service 97 97 97 97

ENVG3
Environmental 

Street Services

Investment in Waste Management and Street 

Cleansing 
188 188 188 188

ENVG4
Environmental 

Street Services

Waste Collection - additional costs from 

increased number of households
149 379 609 834

492 722 952 1,177The Environment - Total Investment Proposals 

Savings Proposals Budget Change

The Environment - Total Savings Proposals 

Investment Proposals Budget Change

P
age 26



Appendix 2

Environment Risk/Challenges

Directorate
Department & 

Division
Short Description of Risk

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23 

Value 

(£000's)

2023/24 

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Public Realm Fleet Management
Fleet management service contract provided on behalf of other boroughs 

not renewed
60 60 60 60

Initiate contract discussions early. Identify substitute business 

as far as possible (limited opportunities expected)

Public Realm Waste Disposal Waste disposal rates and tonnages increase by more than budget 150 150 150 150

Regular finance review and reporting through DMT. Continue 

to progress action plans to target reductions in general waste 

tonnages and increase recycling.

Public Realm Waste Management
Unfunded waste management and street cleansing contract inflation unable 

to be managed within budget
399 399 399 399

Ongoing discussions with senior management regarding 

historic inflation

Public Realm Waste Management Existing contract savings not achieved 242 242 242 242 Ongoing discussions with the contractor

Public Realm Commercial Waste Commercial waste income levels unable to be increased 240 240 240 240
New staffing structure to be implemented with an increased 

focus on sales

Community Safety & 

Regulatory Servies
Building Control

Non fee charging Building Control activites unable to be contained within 

budget
150 150 150 150 To be monitored and reported in year

Community Safety & 

Regulatory Servies
Building Control

Income shortfall on chargeable Building Control activites due to reduction in 

service demand and general downturn in the economy
100 100 100 100

Undertake cost recovery analysis for Building Control (align 

income and expenditure) and implement policy for all building 

control works to be commissioned from the in-house service

Community Safety & 

Regulatory Servies

Emergency Planning - 

Civil Protection

Emergency Planning staffing unable to be contained within budget (after 

approved growth for 2020/21)
50 50 50 50

Review staffing structure and/or get contribution from other 

departments for this vital council-wide service

Community Safety & 

Regulatory Servies

Emergency Planning - 

Silver Rota
Emergency Response Rota staffing unable to be contained within budget 33 33 33 33

Reduce rota or get contribution from other departments for 

this vital council-wide service

Leisure, Sport & Culture Libraries
Library service unable to be contained within budget (after approved growth 

for 2020/21)
53 53 53 53

Service review underway with the aim of removing ongoing 

budget pressures

Leisure, Sport & Culture Parks
Unfunded grounds maintenance contract inflation unable to be managed 

within budget
52 52 52 52

Ongoing discussions with the contractor to reduce spend. May 

result in some level of service reduction

Leisure, Sport & Culture Civic Services
Registrars income less than budget - potential loss of business resulting 

from Hammersmith Town Hall decant
110 67 67 67

Service working to maintain existing levels of income through 

increased sales and marketing. Provision made from the civic 

campus reserve to fund any losses compared to budget

Leisure, Sport & Culture Culture 
Loss of Lettings income as a result of decanting from Hammersmith Town 

Hall not funded corporately
182 182 182 182

Alternative venues being sought to retain repeat custom (but 

limited opportunities expected). Provision made from the civic 

campus reserve to fund any losses compared to budget

Resident Services Resident Services 
Complaints staffing unable to be contained within budget (one unfunded 

post)
70 70 70 70

Review staffing structure and/or get contribution from other 

departments for this vital council-wide service

Resident Services Resident Services Delayed existing savings not achieved 741 370.5 0 0
Resident Access programme progressing as planned. 

Phasing and confirmation of expected benefits underway

Resident Services Resident Services Continuation of Collection Fund overspend 99 99 99 99

Total Budget Risks/Challenges - The Environment 2,731 2,318 1,947 1,947                                                                                             -   

Risk

P
age 27



Appendix 3 
 

DRAFT Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) of main budget proposals 
for   
 

The Environment Department  

 

EN 1 - Intelligent Street Lighting Energy Management - £15,000  
1. Install sensors on street lighting (street lamps, illuminated signs and bollards) in 

order to remotely control hours and levels of illumination.  Requires circa £1.1m of 

one-off investment (invest to save initiative).   

 

2.  Levels of illumination are driven by the preference of local residents (i.e. in 

accordance with levels of natural daylight) and does not vary according to any 

particular group with protected characteristics. 

 

3. It is believed that this proposal has a neutral impact on those with protected 

characteristics.   

 

EN 2 - New Leisure Contract - £174,000 
4. Increased income from the new Leisure Contract.  Capital investment in the sports 

facilities at Lillie Road Fitness Centre and Phoenix Leisure Centre is expected to 

increase use of the facilities and therefore increase the amount of income generated 

by the contractor (of which the council gets a share).  This proposal requires one-off 

investment of £1.5m. 

   

5. The proposal has a neutral impact on those with protected characteristics as the 

facilities are public leisure facilities available for all to use (charged for at the point of 

use).   

 

EN 3 - Maximise Pest Control Income - £35,000  
6. The Pest Control service is a paid for service available to the wider public and 

businesses. Provision of the service does not vary according to any particular group 

with protected characteristics.   

 

7. This proposal has a neutral impact on those with protected characteristics.  

  

 

Page 28



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:   Community, Safety and Environment Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:  28/01/2020 
 
Subject: Review of Council Response to Modern Slavery 
 
Report of: Director of the Environment Department 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report highlights the actions Hammersmith & Fulham Council is taking to 
respond to Modern Slavery & Exploitation (in line with the requirements as stated in 
the Modern Slavery Act 2015) and outlines the preparations the Community Safety 
Unit are making to further support staff and the community in this response.  
 
Recommendations 
 

1. For the Committee to note and comment on the report. 
 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 

H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Building shared prosperity The Modern Slavery & Exploitation (MSE) 
Partnership seeks to tackle exploitation in 
H&F.  

 Creating a compassionate 
council 

The MSE Partnership seeks to prevent 
modern slavery, human trafficking and 
exploitation and ensure that victims are 
supported.  

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

The MSE Partnership supports a 
coordinated community response to modern 
slavery, human trafficking and exploitation.  

 Taking pride in H&F The MSE Partnership seeks to ensure that 
H&F is a safe place for all. 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name: Beth Morgan 
Position: Community Safety Policy and Service Development Officer 
Telephone: 020 8753 3102 
Email: Beth.Morgan@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None 
 

 
 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1. Modern slavery is an umbrella term used when somebody is forced to do 

something they don’t want to do, and another person gains from this. 
 
1.1. Modern slavery is one of the most widespread crimes in the world and comes 

in many forms. These include but are not limited to: 
 

 Sexual exploitation; 

 Domestic servitude; 

 Forced labour; 

 Forced criminality; 

 Organ harvesting; and 

 Forced/sham marriage. 
 

1.2. Victims can be any age, gender or race, but are often taken advantage of due 
to their vulnerability. This is a serious crime in direct violation of an individual’s 
human rights.  

1.3. As the council is involved in such a wide range of aspects of the local 
community, our officers are well placed to identify and respond to cases of 
modern slavery. Officers in areas such as housing and homelessness, trading 
standards, licensing, procurement and contract management, social services, 
community safety and customer services may come across incidents.  
 

1.4. The council therefore recognises that a collaborative, multi-agency approach 
is required in order to best tackle these offences. The council supports a 
coordinated community response to modern slavery led by the Modern 
Slavery and Exploitation (MSE) Partnership Group.  

 
2. Scale of the Problem  

 
2.1. Globally, 40 million people are estimated to be in slavery; 1 in 4 of these are 

children.  
 

2.2. In the UK, the number of people estimated to be in slavery varies from 
13,0001 to 136,0002 people with potentially more. Estimates vary because 
slavery is often hidden, making it harder to recognise victims.  

                                            
1
 UK Government estimation 2014 

2
 Global Slavery index estimation 2018 

Page 30



 
2.3. In 2018, 6,993 people were submitted to the National Referral Mechanism in 

the UK. The National Referral Mechanism is a framework for identifying 
victims of human trafficking and ensuring they receive appropriate protection 
and support. 
 

2.4. Of these 6,993: 
 

 55% were children and 45% were adults. 

 39% identified as female, 60% as male and 1% as transgender. 
 

2.5. The top 10 countries of origin of these individuals were: 
 

 
 
2.6. The types of exploitation experienced by these individuals were: 

 

Type of Exploitation Number of individuals 

Forced Labour 3980 

Sexual Exploitation 1927 

Domestic Servitude 515 

Organ Harvesting 6 

Unknown 565 

1625 

947 

702 

451 427 
362 

302 
208 196 

134 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

UK Albania Vietnam China Romania Sudan Eritrea Nigeria India Pakistan

Top 10 Countries of Origin 

Page 31



[CATEGOR
Y NAME] 

[PERCENT
AGE] 

[CATEGOR
Y NAME] 

[PERCENT
AGE] 

Domestic 
Servitude 

7% 

[CATEGOR
Y NAME] 

[PERCENT
AGE] 

[CATEGOR
Y NAME] 

[PERCENT
AGE] 

Types of Exploitation 

 
 

 

2.7. Due to the nature of the crime it is extremely difficult to estimate the scale of 
modern slavery within Hammersmith & Fulham because victims are often 
hidden. There is also limited public data available regarding Modern Slavery & 
Exploitation. 
 

2.8. We know from the National Referral Mechanism statistics that during 2018 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council referred 0 adults and 16 children. Between 
January and March 2019, the council referred 2 adults and 10 children.  
 

2.9. However, this will only be a partial picture of the issue as this figure does not 
account for victims of modern slavery who have been referred by the police 
and other First Responders within the borough; the adult victims who have 
been identified but did not give consent to be referred to the National Referral 
Mechanism (all child victims of modern slavery must be referred to the 
National Referral Mechanism regardless of consent); and those victims who 
remain hidden and have not yet been identified.  
 

2.10. We are aware that modern slavery is taking place within Hammersmith & 
Fulham as the council has received referrals from homeless hostels, reports 
of sexual exploitation in massage parlours and forced labour in the hospitality 
industry. The council receives intelligence from Non-Governmental 
Organisations (NGOs) within the borough who are supporting victims of 
modern slavery. 

 
3. What we’re Doing and Why 
 
  Funding  
 
3.1. The budget for Modern Slavery & Exploitation in 2019/20 is £3,250, which 

funds the Modern Slavery & Exploitation Partnerships and Community 

Page 32



Coordinator (detailed in Section 3.2). Funding opportunities beyond 2019/20 
are currently being explored. 
 
Appointing a Modern Slavery & Exploitation Partnerships and 
Community Coordinator 
 

3.2. In July 2018, the council appointed a Modern Slavery & Exploitation 
Partnerships and Community Coordinator, through a partnership with the 
charity STOP THE TRAFFIK, to support the development of Modern Slavery 
& Exploitation services in three West London boroughs.  

 
Multi-Agency Modern Slavery & Exploitation Training  
 

3.3. The Modern Slavery & Exploitation Partnerships and Community Coordinator 
delivers multi-agency Modern Slavery & Exploitation training sessions to 
professionals from across the three boroughs. These are designed to raise 
awareness of modern slavery and the support available to victims. 516 
professionals attended this training between September 2018 and August 
2019.  
 
Establishing a Modern Slavery & Exploitation Partnership Group 
 

3.4. The Modern Slavery & Exploitation Partnerships and Community Coordinator 
coordinates the boroughs’ Modern Slavery & Exploitation (MSE) Partnership 
Group, which is a multi-agency partnership to support the delivery of better 
outcomes for victims of modern slavery. 
 

3.5.  The MSE Group is an active part of the coordinated community response to 
Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) and is one of six operational 
groups that form the VAWG Strategic Partnership response. Although 
positioned within the VAWG partnership, the MSE Group has an equal 
commitment to supporting men and boys affected by modern slavery, as it 
does to supporting women and girls.  
 

3.6. The strategic objective of the MSE Group are:  
 

 To raise awareness of Modern Slavery & Exploitation resulting in an 
increase of victim identification; 

 To provide necessary support to enable survivors of trafficking to 
recover;  

 To build communities which are resilient to human trafficking; and  

 To ensure perpetrators are brought to justice. 
 

3.7. The group has developed an action plan outlining the priorities and projects 
for the coming year. These include:  
 

 Establishing a referral pathway for reporting and supporting potential 
victims of trafficking;  

 Developing a child trafficking protocol; 

Page 33



 Sharing anonymised data in order to increase the understanding of 
Modern Slavery in the borough; and  

 Increasing awareness of Modern Slavery amongst multi-agency 
professionals and members of the community.  

 
Embedding a Referral Pathway for Adult Victims of Modern Slavery 

 
3.8. Following consultation with other council departments and using the Human 

Trafficking Foundation’s protocol for local authorities, a referral pathway for 
adult victims of modern slavery has been developed for Hammersmith & 
Fulham in response to section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 

3.9. Ahead of publicising the referral pathway, bespoke training was delivered to 
priority teams to ensure council employees respond appropriately and in line 
with our legal obligations. 
 

3.10. The referral pathway was officially introduced in June 2019. Guidance was 
shared alongside the pathway, explaining the indicators of modern slavery, 
the duty of the local authority and how the National Referral Mechanism 
works. The pathway was promoted across the council through a variety of 
communication channels to raise awareness amongst council officers.  
 

3.11. The referral pathway and processes are being monitored and reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and requirements for additional resources are being explored.  

 
Signing the Charter Against Modern Slavery  
 

3.12. Hammersmith & Fulham Council has also demonstrated its commitment to 
tackling Modern Slavery & Exploitation by signing the ‘Charter Against Modern 
Slavery’. The Charter aims to ensure exploitation has no place in council 
supply chains. 

 
Introducing a Modern Slavery Page on the Council Website 

 
3.13. The council has created a page on its website providing information and 

advice about modern slavery. It provides information about indicators of 
modern slavery, where and how to report concerns and organisations who 
can provide support to victims.   
 

3.14. The page also references H&F’s commitment to tackle modern slavery by 
signing the Charter Against Modern Slavery.  
 
Anti-Slavery Day – 18 October 2019 

 
3.15. Each year Hammersmith & Fulham Council acknowledge Anti-Slavery Day on 

18 October.  
 

3.16. In 2019 the MSE Partnership published and promoted a schedule of events 
taking place across the three boroughs, organised a local community 

Page 34



engagement stall in Hammersmith Town Centre and delivered an internal and 
external communications campaign.  
 

4. Emerging Initiatives 
 

Publishing a Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking Statement 
 
4.1. Over 100 councils across England have voluntarily chosen to develop Modern 

Slavery Statements. Whilst Hammersmith & Fulham Council is not required to 
publish a Modern Slavery Statement (in line with section 54 of the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015) as it is not a commercial organisation, an annual Modern 
Slavery Statement will demonstrate the positive work the council is doing to 
tackle the crime.  
 

4.2. The statement will outline the work that the council is doing to tackle the crime 
and will include an action plan for delivering against each of the ten actions 
and commitments within the Charter Against Modern Slavery.  
 

4.3. A small Working Group will be established to support the development of the 
Modern Slavery Statement and the delivery of the commitments outlined in 
the Statement and Charter Against Modern Slavery.  

 
5. Consultation 

 
5.1. This report and recommendations have been developed in partnership with 

the charity STOP THE TRAFFIK. 
 
 
 

Page 35



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:   Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:  28/01/2020 
 
Subject: Parking enforcement in the Borough 
 
Report of: Bram Kainth, Chief Officer for Public Realm 
 

 
Summary 
 
This is a report giving an overview of parking enforcement in the Borough 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. For the Committee to note and comment on the report. 
 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 

H&F Priorities 
 
Please state how the subject of the report relates to our priorities – delete those 
priorities which are not appropriate  
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

  

 Creating a compassionate 
council 

Making adequate parking provision for 
holders of disabled badges. 

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

Restrictions in the parking zones are 
implemented after consultation with 
residents. 

  

 Taking pride in H&F Enforcement action taken ensures H&F’s 
streets are not cluttered with illegally parked 
and abandoned vehicles. It also helps keep 
traffic moving. 

Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name: Osa Ezekiel 
Position: Assistant Head of Parking Services 
Telephone: 07785 928528 
Email: osa.ezekiel@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

Page 36

Agenda Item 6

mailto:osa.ezekiel@lbhf.gov.uk


Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None 
 

 
 
1. Overview on parking within the borough  

 
1.1 Parking controls play an important part in the Council’s transport strategy by 

regulating the amount of traffic within the Borough and encouraging the use of 
public transport.   

  

1.2 We believe that parking issues affect everyone who uses our streets, not only 
car users.   
  

1.3 We seek to maintain a balance between the different demands – from 
residents, businesses and visitors, whilst ensuring there is good access for 
pedestrians, cyclists, buses and other vehicles. Our general policy is to 
provide the maximum number of car parking spaces while allowing the 
satisfactory and safe movement of traffic and the maintenance of a good 
quality residential environment.      

 
1.4 We constantly monitor and review our parking policies to ensure that they 

meet the needs of the local community and reflect our transport policy 
objectives. 

1.5 We currently have 34 control parking zones and sub zones in the Borough. 
Most of our parking bays are for the “shared use” of permit holders and 
drivers using pay and display facilities or telephone parking. 

1.6 Residents and local businesses can apply for a permit to park in their local 
controlled parking zone. Residents can also register for a visitor permit that 
can be used to access cheaper parking for their visitors. 

1.7 Anyone else can also park in H&F either by buying a pay-and-display ticket 
from a machine, or through our cashless telephone parking system, operated 
by RingGo. 

1.8 Some parking places only allow certain types of parking, such as disabled 
bays, doctors’ bays, electric vehicle bays and market trader bays. In zones F, 
S & G, parking is restricted to permit holders only at specific times. 

2. What we’re doing and why  

2.1 Our parking controls are designed to make it easier for residents to park near 
their homes, while maintaining essential access for business and giving 
priority to road safety. Our “small zone” system discourages short distance 
commuting by car within the borough and seeks to prevent residents who live 

Page 37



near hotspots such as underground stations and shopping centres from being 
“frozen out” of parking spaces by commuters and visitors.    

2.2 They also help reduce congestion, commuter parking and parking stress. 
Complete agreement on the best parking restrictions is a rare thing, so we 
base our restrictions on the majority view in local neighbourhoods wherever 
we can. We always consult local people thoroughly before we make any 
changes. 

 
3.        Performance data/how it’s going 
  
3.1  In 2018/2019 154,766 Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) were issued by our 

Civil Enforcement Officers to vehicles parked illegally in the Borough. 
Additionally, 82,372 PCNs were issued by CCTV primarily to vehicles 
contravening bus lane and moving traffic restrictions. 

 
3.2 The 2017/18 statistics from London Tribunals show that the Council won 67.5 

per cent of appeals. This independent score is a key indicator for the Parking 
Service. 

 
3.3 The Council has discretion on how to spend any surplus that may arise from 

parking operations, within the allowable uses set by Section 55 of the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984. Under current legislation, the application of any 
surplus is limited to meeting the cost of providing and maintaining parking 
facilities, highways and road improvement schemes, highway maintenance, 
environmental improvements, public passenger transport services and older 
persons freedom passes. 

 
3.4 The latest annual parking report is attached. 
 
 
4.       Any upcoming improvements or changes  
 
4.1 The Council declared a climate emergency in the summer of 2019, and we 

are now considering options for using differential parking charges to 
encourage residents, visitors and business to switch to lower emission 
vehicles.  

 
4.2  We are continuing our expansion of electric vehicle charging points and we 

now have 135 Source London charging points, 79 lamp column points and 5 
rapid charge points. Bays outside the latter are not currently exclusive to 
electric vehicles and we are now looking at dedicating some of them to 
electric vehicles so that residents with electric vehicles can gain access to 
these charging points. We are also looking at new developments in charging 
technology.  

 
4.3 We are rolling out our programme of secure “bikehangar” cycle parking sheds 

and now have over 30 on street.  
 

Page 38



4.4 In the last year or so, dockless bikes, some of them electrically assisted, have 
appeared on our streets. These can cause obstructions and hazards to 
residents, particularly those who are disabled, and we are developing means 
to control the parking, including support for a London wide bylaw promoted by 
London councils.  

 
5.       Any challenges and potential mitigations 
 
5.1 Balancing the needs of service users (residents, businesses, visitors, parents 

etc.) is a challenge. For example, we often get requests from residents to 
carry out more enforcement outside schools and complaints from parents 
accusing us of targeting them when we do. Keeping everyone happy and 
satisfied is therefore very difficult if not impossible.  

 
List of Appendices: 
 
Annual Parking Report 2018/2019 

Page 39



Annual 
Parking 
Report 
2018/19

Page 40



Page 41



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 3

Contents
Glossary 4

Introduction  
and background
Parking in Hammersmith & Fulham 5

Overview
Resident Parking 8

Resident Permit Appeals 9

Disabled Parking 10

Car Clubs 10

Cycle Parking 11

Motorcycle Parking 11

Electric vehicles 12

Parking Enforcement 13

Moving Traffic and Bus Lane Enforcement 14

Enforcement Agents 15

The PCN Appeals Process 16

Parking Appeals 16

Parking Suspensions 16

Paying to Park 17

Resident Visitor Permits (RVP) 17

Looking ahead
Shared Parking Service Disaggregation 20

Improving Air Quality 20

Digital Improvements 21

CPZ Reviews 21

Statistics, financial 
information, reviews  
and monitoring
Financial statistics 24

Parking income and expenditure 24

Application of surplus 24

Penalty charges 26

Payment of PCNs 26

PCN recovery rate 26

Appeals and Adjudication 26

Annual statistics on civil enforcement 
officers’ safety 27

Page 42



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/194

Glossary
This glossary explains common acronyms and definitions of technical terms used through the document.

Annual Report  This is the abbreviated name for this document, the Annual Parking and Enforcement 
Report.

CC Charge certificate.

CEO Civil Enforcement Officer. Following the enactment of Part 6 of the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 on 31 March 2008 with respect to civil parking enforcement, 
‘Parking Attendants’ are now referred to as CEOs.

CPZ Controlled Parking Zone. All public highways in the London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham are covered by a CPZ.

Contravention This refers to a breach of parking regulations. This was formerly referred to as an 
‘offence’ when regulations were enforced by the police.

Enforcement In this document ‘enforcement’ activity by the Council covers that of parking controls.

KPI Key performance indicator.

London Councils This body represents the interests of the 33 London Local Authorities in London. 
London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee, which is made up of 
nominated representatives from each London local authority, carries out statutory 
functions, such as setting the level of Penalty Charge Level for parking contraventions 
in London. It is responsible for the parking adjudication service and administration of 
the London Lorry Control Scheme.

London Tribunals The parking and traffic appeals service (formerly PATAS)

NTO Notice to owner.

PCN Penalty charge notice.

Recovery rate The percentage of PCNs issued that have been paid. Non-payment of PCNs may be 
due to those receiving the PCN or as a consequence of the Council not being able to 
obtain the keeper details from the DVLA (Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency).

RingGo Pay and Park facility used in Hammersmith & Fulham

TEC London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee 

TfL Transport for London, one of the bodies the GLA and the Mayor of London is 
responsible for. 

TMA Traffic Management Act 2004

TMO Traffic Management Order. TMO is used as a generic term in this report to cover any 
traffic management or traffic regulation orders that are used to designate parking 
and traffic controls.

Page 43



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 5

Introduction  
and background
This is the London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham’s Annual Parking and Enforcement Report 
for 2018/19.

This report will focus on three key areas:

• Parking in the London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham

• A Look Ahead

• Statistics, Financial Information,  
Reviews and Monitoring 

The legislative framework for Local Authorities 
to carry out parking enforcement changed on 
31 March 2008 when Part Six of the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 (TMA), replaced parts of 
the Road Traffic Act 1991. The Department for 
Transport (DfT) introduced the TMA to improve 
public perceptions of parking enforcement by 
providing greater consistency of nationwide 
parking regulations and providing a fairer and 
more transparent system.

The TMA required a number of changes to 
parking enforcement practice, which covered the 
terminology and documentation used, and the 
processing of Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs). It also 
placed additional responsibilities on authorities 
to publish information regarding parking 
enforcement, including an annual report.

More information on parking in the Hammersmith 
& Fulham is available on our website at: 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/parking

This document focuses on parking and 
enforcement issues and the new schemes and 
processes that we believe will offer a better service 
to our customers.

The Council is committed to being open and 
transparent about its parking operation, with the 
mind set of keeping the local community and other 
interested parties abreast of any changes the we 
have made and any we are considering for the 
future. 

Page 44



Page 45



Parking in  
Hammersmith  

& Fulham

Page 46



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/198

Overview
All roads controlled by the London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham are part of a Controlled 
Parking Zone (with a few exceptions of private 
roads) and all kerbside space is therefore dedicated 
as a parking space or has a yellow line waiting 
restriction. 

Parking schemes must accommodate the needs 
and expectations of different groups and parking 
bay restrictions are designed to manage demand 
and ensure that everyone may benefit from 
available space, at the times it is most needed.

Parking and traffic schemes have a large role to 
play in reducing CO2 and air pollution emissions 
from vehicles by influencing driver behaviour, the 
trips they can make and the vehicles they own. 
Prioritisation of road space for vehicles with greener 
credentials is a national trend that growing and the 
boroughs parking layout will have to respond to 
this trend.

Parking schemes need correct signage and 
road markings to be enforceable. The council 
is responsible for maintenance of existing signs 
and lines, both within and outside the controlled 
parking zone, as well as the installation of signs and 
lines for new parking schemes. Other associated 
costs include maintaining over 370 pay-and-
display machines in some of our busier areas of the 
borough.

Parking measures have an impact on the safety of 
pedestrians and cyclists. Inconsiderate parking can 
obstruct sight lines, keeping dangerous hazards 
out of view. It may also result in reduced access 
on pavements and at crossing points. Bad parking 
can also block bus routes, causing delays for 
passengers. Service unreliability may, in turn, lead 
to more private vehicles on the road.

On-street parking bays are reserved for use by 
certain users. We have the following types and 
numbers of bays in the Borough: 

Type of Bay Number

Standard Parking Bay 39804

2 Hour Parking Bay 1407

4 Hour Parking Bay 911

1 Hour Parking Bay 590

Disabled Parking Bay 362

Cycle Hire Bay 135

Electric Parking Bay 133

Loading Bay 126

Permit Only Parking Bay 105

Disabled Personalised Parking Bay 60

Pay and Display Only Parking Bay 59

Motorcycle Parking Bay 43

Beyond Borough Extent 41

Car Club Bay 41

Market Bay 34

Doctors Bay 33

Taxi Parking Bays 20

Cycle Hangar Bay 13

Taxi Night Parking Bays 11

30 Minute Parking Bay 10

Diplomatic Parking Bay 6

Ambulance Parking Bay 4

Combined Loading Bay and Standard Parking Bay 3

Police Parking Bay 2

1 Hour Pay and Display Only Parking Bay 1

You can find information concerning parking 
and examples of road markings and signage in 
the Highway Code and in the Department for 
Transport’s Know Your Traffic Signs booklet and in 
the Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 
2016. 

These publications and other useful information 
related to parking can be found on the 
Department for Transport’s website  
www.dft.gov.uk

Page 47



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 9

Resident Parking 
Vehicle ownership per household is low compared 
to national statistics, but in line with the rest of 
London. Priority for parking during the working 
day is given to residents through the use of a 
permit. Eligibility for a parking permit is based on 
the resident’s ability to clearly demonstrate their 
ongoing full time/main residency in Hammersmith 
& Fulham, their entitlement to a full driving license 
and the keepership / main use of the vehicle at their 
address in the Borough. 

Each member of a household is entitled to apply 
for a maximum of 2 permits – a resident first 
permit for their first vehicle and a resident second 
permit at the higher price for their second vehicle. 
Permits can be issued for a period of 6 or 12 
months. Temporary 30-day parking permits are 
available for new residents and first-time applicants 
who can apply using reduced proofs and then 
upgrade the permit to a full annual version at no 
further charge when any outstanding documents 
are submitted. This permit incurs a non-refundable 
deposit equivalent to a 12 month permit to deter 
fraud. 

Green vehicle discount is available for residents 
who use a vehicle that emits 100 g/km or less of 
CO2. Free permits are available for residents who 
use a fully electric vehicle. The discounted price 
or free permit is only available for the first permit. 
The pricing structure for our permits can be seen 
below:

Permit  
Type

Permit 
Duration

First  
Permit

Second 
Permit

Standard 6 months £71 £260

Standard 12 months £119 £497

Temporary 30 days £119 N/A

Green Vehicle 12 months £60 N/A

Fully Electric 
Vehicle 12 months £0 N/A

The number of residents permits issued has risen 
through the year. This is because residents on 
several housing estates joined the main parking 
permit scheme as part of a phased program of 
work.

Business Permit First 702

Business Permit Second 198

Resident First 28,608

Resident Special 475

Housing Estates First 1774

Housing Estates Special 21

Total 31,778

Resident Permit Appeals 
We operate a one stage appeals process for 
applicants who have been refused a parking 
permit, except for non-residents and permit free 
planning agreements. Applicants can appeal in 
writing and a decision is made within 30

days of receipt of the appeal. There is no further 
right of appeal once a decision has been made.

• Total number of appeals in 2018/19 = 22 
(Number upheld = 15, Number not upheld = 7)

Page 48



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/1910

Disabled Parking 
The National Disabled Persons’ Parking Badge 
Scheme (Blue Badge Scheme) is fully operational 
within the Borough. Some disabled parking bays 
are reserved for specific Blue Badge holders and are 
not available for other Blue Badge holders. These 
bays are clearly signed and marked.

We take fraudulent use of disabled badges very 
seriously and employ officers specifically to 
investigate and prosecute offenders. Between 1 
April 2018 and 31 March 2019, 158 blue badges 
were seized. As a three year comparison: 171 
(2017/18) 169 (2016/17) and 195 (2015/16). 

Of the 158 badges seized this year, 119 cases went 
to court and 118 were convicted. 11 of the 118 
cases were prosecuted under the Fraud Act 2006. 

The Council takes blue badge fraud very seriously 
and we have provided a clear message to drivers 
that blue badge misuse will not be tolerated. It is 
also important that drivers with disabilities know 
we are doing our utmost to deal with this long-
standing issue in our borough, and that we are 
creating spaces for disabled drivers, whether they 
be visitors or residents in our borough, to park. 

Car Clubs 
We are enthusiastic supporters of car clubs and 
believe that they offer great potential to reduce 
both traffic congestion and on-street parking 
stress. Car clubs are an alternative to car ownership 
that gives members of the club access to vehicles 
when needed. They have been described as a pay-
as- you-go form of car ownership, whereby you 
pay only when you are using the car. 

We currently have 47 on-street car club locations, 
managed by two operators. Our operators have 
moved away from diesel vehicles and are actively 
looking to make all of their fleets fully electric or 
hybrid. 

We also introduced London’s first electric vehicle 
Car Club, in partnership with providers Bluecity. 
There is a network of on-street electric vehicle 
charging points, including in residential streets, 
across the Borough and electric Car club members 
can use any of these charging points. As the 
Bluecity scheme now runs London-wide, the 
number of vehicles parked and available in the 
Borough may fluctuate.

The latest initiative we will be introducing in 
early 2020 is the “free-floating” Car Club model, 
whereby members can make a one-way trip 
instead of the traditional hire of a vehicle for a 
specific time period then having to return its fixed 
designated bay. The free-floating Car Club is open 
to members across London Boroughs who host 
the service which provides greater flexibility and a 
wider area for non-round trip journey’s.

Page 49



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 11

Cycle Parking 
The demand for on street cycle parking continued 
throughout the financial year and was met by two 
different initiatives. Firstly, we continued to respond 
to individual requests from our residents to install 
‘Sheffield style’ cycle stands across our Borough 
streets and installed another 72 hoops providing 
144 spaces for residents to park their bikes. In 
addition, developers such as Westfield have also 
added a further 60 Sheffield Stands (120 spaces) 
adjacent to the new John Lewis store.

Early in the year we asked our residents to advise us 
on locations for secure cycle parking units. These 
are called ‘Bikehangers’ and each secure unit stores 
6 resident bikes. We have installed 22 of these 
units and enabled 132 Resident Bikes to be securely 
stored. We are currently consulting on another 
twenty units for installation but current demand 
is still increasing for another 200 spaces and this 
demand will be met from a combination of LiP and 
Developer funding. 

Motorcycle Parking 
The Council provides designated on-street solo 
motorcycle only bays within the Borough in 
locations where there is high demand, such as 
commercial town centres and an identified higher 
proportion of recorded motorcycle thefts. We 
continue to work with the Metropolitan Police, 
local residents and ward councillors to determine 
new locations. 

The Council allows free parking for motorcycles 
in all its shared-use and pay and display parking 
bays (the significant majority of parking bays in 
H&F) in recognition of the fact they use less space 
and cause less congestion than cars. Motorcycles 
cannot be parked in specific bay types such as 
disabled or doctors bays, and also suspended 
parking bays or on the pavement.

Page 50



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/1912

Electric vehicles 
The Council has installed over 135 destination 
charging points across the borough, which 
includes a mix of 7 kWh and 22 kWh, and 50 kWh 
rapid charge points. This network continues to 
grow and we are expecting five more 50kWh rapid 
charge points in H&F in early 2020. 

The Council also appreciate that demand for 
charge points is growing amongst our residents 
and so are now prioritising providing convenient 
EV charging facilities for residents, exploring 
opportunities with several different stakeholders 
to provide residents who do not have access 
to private off-street parking the opportunity to 
charge close to home. In 2018/19 the Council 
installed over 80 lamp column charge points in 
residential streets and are now reviewing these 
locations for improvement and, where appropriate 
investigating the feasibility of providing dedicated 
electric vehicle bays adjacent to lamp column 
charge points to prevent spaces being occupied 
by non-EV, thus maximizing resident’s chances of 
being able to access the charge points. The council 
has committed to installing an additional 1000 
charging points over the next 3 years.

All lamp column charge points are open to use 
(through a third-party subscription) to all residents 
(subject to parking zone restrictions) and so far a 
substantial spread across the borough has been 
provided meaning that in many instances residents 
are not too far from their nearest residential charge 
point. 

To support future development of our charge 
point network the Council is exploring all funding 
streams including a recently submitted bid to the 
Go Ultra Low Cities Scheme to fund the installation 
of further residential charge points. The Council 
is also actively working with a number of key 
stakeholders and potential partners to develop and 
improve the charging options available in H&F.

Page 51



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 13

Parking Enforcement
The LBHF Enforcement Team is one of the few 
remaining in-house parking enforcement units 
in Britain and has been since its inception in 
October 1991. Since then, we have contracted 
our own parking attendants, now known as Civil 
Enforcement Officers (CEOs), to enforce all parking 
restrictions across the borough. 

We expect CEOs to act in a consistent and 
professional manner and to treat all motorists 
equally, without showing favour, bias or prejudice. 

When finding a vehicle is parked in contravention 
of a parking restriction, it is the duty of a CEO 
to issue a PCN to that vehicle and they have no 
powers to subsequently cancel or withdraw those 
notices. Ideally we would like all vehicles to be 
parked correctly and observe the parking layout as 
it specifically designed to fairly distribute the road 
space based on rational set criteria. Enforcement is 
only necessary because compliance is never 100%.

In addition to parking enforcement, CEOs provide 
advice and guidance to the public, inform the 
police of suspected criminal activity and report 
suspected abandoned vehicles, faults with parking 
equipment and missing/faded road markings 

and missing/damaged signs. They act as the 
our ‘eyes and ears’ on the street and their high 
profile, uniformed patrols help to deter antisocial 
behaviour.

Our LBHF Enforcement team play an integral role 
in providing intelligence and evidence to help 
build a case against fraudulent activity. All Civil 
Enforcement Officer’s (CEOs) are trained at their 
own bases twice a year in the disabled badge 
enforcement process. The BBFI team are also able 
to provide staff with examples of the new styles of 
fake badge for CEOs to look out for, which means 
they are always fully briefed to any new trends of 
potential misuse. 

Regular feedback is given to the CEOs on how the 
blue badge enforcement team are performing and 
recognition is given to CEOs who play a key part in 
any future prosecutions. This creates a continuous 
learning loop, with intelligence shared and key hot 
spot misuse areas highlighted.

Hammersmith & Fulham Council is taking a wide 
range of actions to tackle air pollution through 
the enforcement of Idling vehicles. At present, Our 
Civil Enforcement Officers engage with the driver, 
requesting that the driver switch off their engine, 
which has proven to be very effective. 

Page 52



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/1914

Moving Traffic and Bus Lane 
Enforcement
Since 1999 the London Borough for Hammersmith 
& Fulham has been using Attended CCTV cameras 
to enforce Bus lane regulations, using the powers 
granted by the London Local Authorities Act 1996 
(LLA96). In 2003, LLA 2000 Parking Regulations, 
updated later by the Traffic Management Act 
2004, also started to be enforced via Attended 
CCTV, although a partial Ban was introduced 
by coalition Government in 2015 leaving only 3 
contraventions. Finally, since 2006, Moving Traffic 
contraventions (LLA&TFL 2003) have also been 
added as an enforcement type. 

The introduction of enforcement of traffic 
regulations by CCTV cameras is one part of a wide-
ranging programme of measures to improve the 
reliability and punctuality of public transport and 
permitted vehicles, to reduce congestion, pollution 
and increase road safety. 

The aim of most traffic management measures, 
such as bus lanes and parking regulations, is to give 
priority to certain groups of road users by excluding 
others during prescribed hours to meet the aims of 
Highways policy. 

CCTV enforcement activities occurs using the 
shared Manned CCTV network across the Borough. 
A camera access priority policy has been agreed 
with key stakeholders, including the Community 
Safety Division, the Borough Police and Transport 
for London. 

The Authority is a member of the “London 
Councils” body and is represented on the Parking 
Enforcement Forum’s CCTV subgroup. The 
Authority has also adopted the London Code of 
practice for CCTV enforcement. LBHF currently 
uses around 42 cameras, of those 26 are deemed 
regularly useful. All CCTV Officers are either BTEC 
or City & Guilds trained in CCTV Skills.

Page 53



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 15

Enforcement Agents
LBHF continue to use Marston Holdings as their 
primary contracted Enforcement Agent, with 
Equita working on the warrants returned by 
Marston. 

Marston have also reviewed their ethical 
debt framework and have made a number of 
developments in this area, including:

• Marston were the first in the industry to roll 
out BWV to all of our enforcement agents 
which protects the enforcement agent and the 
customer

• Award winning Vulnerability strategy’s where 
Marston were recognised for their ethical 
approach with customers 

• Dedicated Welfare team Samaritan trained. 

• Dedicated Welfare team implemented prior  
to TCE

• All staff received Vulnerability training (CICM 
award-winning)

• Marston provide access to advice for customers 
such as StepChange Debt which Marston has 
supported for 10 years

• Marston run debt surgeries in conjunction with 
the Citizens Advice Hammersmith & Fulham 
(CAHF) 

• Marston has an independent Advisory group 
chaired by Elizabeth Filkin CBE (Former 
Parliamentary Commissioner for Standards). 
The advisory board focuses on how they can 
continue to improve all aspects of their service 
to uphold the highest standards in ethical 
delivery. 

Page 54



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/1916

The PCN Appeals Process
When a PCN is issued the owner of the vehicle is 
legally obliged to pay the penalty charge. Vehicle 
owners may dispute the issuing of a PCN at three 
stages: 

• They can make an informal ‘challenge or 
representation’ before the Council issues a 
Notice to Owner (NtO)

• Once a NtO has been served, they can make 
a formal representation against the NtO (this 
can still be done if an informal challenge 
has previously been made and rejected). 
The legislation sets out specific grounds 
for formal representation against the NtO. 
However, whether or not those grounds apply, 
representations may also be made on the basis 
that, in the particular circumstances of the case, 
there are mitigating reasons for the cancellation 
of the PCN

• We will issue a Notice of Rejection if the 
formal representation is rejected. The owner 
then has the right to appeal within 28 days to 
an adjudicator of the London Tribunals. The 
adjudicators have a judicial status: they are 
appointed with the agreement of the Lord 
Chancellor and they are wholly independent. 
Their decisions are final and they have the 
power to award costs against either party

After this, no further challenges can be made, 
other than on a point of law through an 
application to the High Court for Judicial Review. 

Full details of the adjudication service and of the 
appeals process can be found on their website 
www.londontribunals.gov.uk

Parking Appeals 
The 2018/19 statistics from the London Tribunals 
show that the Council won 67.5 per cent of 
appeals. This independent score is a key indicator 
for the Parking Service.

Parking Suspensions 
The London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
(LBHF) forms part of Inner London, where parking 
spaces are at a premium. For those residents 
that don’t understand the full implications of not 
having a suspension in place, it is considered an 
inconvenience, but we have to suspend bays for 
a number of reasons, and these reasons include 
furniture removals, utilities and special events. If 
suspensions were withdrawn, motorists would see 
the impact of this action, there would be mayhem 
with increased congestion through double parking 
and illegal parking. To prevent this happening, 
suspension requests are set a reasonable notice 
period to warn other road users. This is done 
through the use of signs on street, warning of the 
intention to suspend parking. 

Most applications for parking suspensions and 
payments must be made no later than the eighth 
day before the date requested. Unless, the request 
is for more than 30 metres or, the request is 
for more than three days, when more notice is 
required, There is also a graduated charge scheme 
which has encouraged those requesting longer 
term suspensions to give greater thought to the 
amount of time and space they need. Guidelines 
for both notice periods and the graduated charge 
scheme are available on the LBHF website at: 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/parking/suspensions-and-
road-closures. 

Page 55



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 17

Paying to Park
We’ve upgraded our ticket machines and 
introduced mobile phone payments, which has 
led to a wider choice of ways to pay than in many 
London boroughs.

Paying by mobile phone and online: 85 per cent 
of people now use our simple mobile parking app 
provided by RingGo. It’s very easy to register and 
use and it means you only pay for the time you use 
and you don’t have to carry change.

Paying at on-street ticket machines: You can also 
use credit or debit cards, including via contactless 
payments, at our new on-street ticket machines 
and, in our town centres, you can also pay using 
cash.

Resident Visitor Permits (RVP)
The resident visitor permits are part of RingGo 
cashless parking. You may already be using RingGo 
to park outside your home zone. It’s a modern 
online system, and many of our residents already 
have accounts for use across London and beyond. 
The new system is branded as Resident Visitor 
Permits (RVP) and we’ve been excited by the take 
up. We currently have 8,007 RingGo RVP users 
across the Borough including all LBHF Estates.

Page 56



Page 57



Looking ahead

Page 58



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/1920

Shared Parking Service 
Disaggregation 
The integrated Shared Parking Service between 
the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 
was established in April 2014, creating arguably 
the largest parking service in the UK. After more 
than five years of working in partnership, the two 
services will disaggregate in December 2019 and 
will revert back to a single borough focus. We 
anticipate that our services will be unaffected by 
this structure change and our high levels of service 
will be maintained. 

Improving Air Quality
One of the Council’s biggest drivers moving 
forward will be to improve air quality in the 
borough and to balance ongoing vehicle usage 
with protecting the health of residents and 
visitors. Travel within, and through, the borough is 
incredibly well served by public transport (buses, 
trains, DLR), and there are miles of cycle routes and 
quiet walkways around the borough, with more 
being developed and planned for. 

Exhaust pollution from moving and idling vehicles 
harms the local environment and people’s health. 
Diesel vehicles such as coaches and taxis can 
release high levels of fine particles, which increase 
breathing problems such as asthma.

Under the Road Vehicle Regulations (1986) it 
is an offence to leave vehicle engines running 
unnecessarily whilst parked. Councils can now ask 
drivers to switch them off, and issue Fixed Penalty 
to drivers who refuse. Our Parking Enforcement 
Team have adopted these powers and frequently 
advise drivers of the merits of turning off idling 
engines. 

Page 59



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 21

Digital Improvements
The council declared a Climate Emergency this 
year and are committed to reducing the amount 
of carbon generated in operating its services. As 
part of that, the parking service will be more digital 
going forward reducing the amount of paper 
generated through the use of e-parking and more 
online service offerings.

Current pay & display and Smart Visitor parking 
uses e-parking, which utilises the vehicle number 
plate as the permit and links it to the type of 
parking paid for. We are looking to expand the 
number of permits offered this way which will 
improve the speed of service, improve efficiency 
and reduce the impact on the environment. 

CPZ Reviews
Each year, the Parking Projects and Policy team 
commit to a programme of controlled parking 
zone reviews. This programme is subject to change 
throughout the year and is influenced by several 
factors including changes to parking pressures 
through local developments, section 106 funding 
allocation for specific areas and local events/traffic 
management measures which affect parking stress 
in certain areas. 

There are also other influences which arise 
throughout the course of the financial year which 
necessitate urgent reviews of parking restrictions. 
For minor changes to parking layouts and 
restrictions, we make changes through a quarterly 
programme of traffic order advertisements where 
lots of similar minor requests are addressed in 
batches.

Page 60



Page 61



Statistics, 
financial 

information, 
reviews and 
monitoring

Page 62



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/1924

Financial statistics 
Within the Council’s budgeting processes 
and procedures, the parking account is a 
‘memorandum account’, which is set up and 
collated from the Council’s accounts. It is necessary 
to set up the parking account in this way since any 
surplus generated can be spent only on certain 
allowable transport, parking, and highways related 
activities, as specified by law, and accounted 
for separately in the Council’s accounts to show 
transparency.

Parking income  
and expenditure 
Income from the on-street operation in 2016/17 
totalled £35 million, and the expenditure to provide 
the on-street service was £12.2 million. The surplus 
of £22.7 million was transferred to the Council’s 
Car Parking Reserve which we use to fund off-
street parking, public transport and other transport 
and highways related improvements. 

Although the Council sets the level of permit 
and pay and display charges, the level of penalty 
charge notices, clamping, and removal fees are set 
by London Councils’ TEC. The highest proportion 
of income is from visitor parking reflecting the 
demand for these facilities.

Application of surplus
The Council has discretion on how to spend any 
surplus that may arise, within the allowable uses 
set by Section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984. Under current legislation, the application 
of any surplus is limited to meeting the cost of 
providing and maintaining parking facilities, 
highways improvement schemes, highway 
maintenance, public passenger transport services 
and certain other service categories.

Page 63



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 25

On-street Account
Income 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17

On Street Parking Charges 16,616,437 14,237,757 12,970,149

Parking Suspension Charges 2,407,898 2,324,880 3,127,801

Residents Parking Permits 3,734,852 3,736,882 3,760,151

Doctors Parking Permits 0 0 0

Business Parking Permits 908,233 845,931 866,781

Parking Penalty Charge Notices 8,783,805 7,633,620 6,654,325

Bus Lane Penalty Charge Notices 1,418,301 1,455,749 1,492,578

CCTV Parking Penalty Charge Notices 20,139 27,220 30,207

Moving Traffic Penalty Charge Notices 4,646,202 5,813,162 5,846,155

Clamping and Removals Income 257,466 265,024 255,910

Other Income 37,369 36,604 90,356

Total Income £38,830,700 £36,376,829 £35,094,413

Expenditure

Parking on Street Enforcement Staffing 3,181,462 2,882,165 2,498,743

Other Staffing 3,216,942 3,244,642 2,932,749

Non-Staffing Costs 6,994,737 7,096,426 6,867,546

Total Expenditure £13,393,141 £13,223,232 £12,299,037

Excess Income Over Expenditure £25,437,560 £23,153,596 £22,795,376

Application of Parking Surplus
 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17

Contribution to capital schemes (controlled parking zones and lamp columns) 700,000 700,000 700,000

Concessionary Fares 9,197,344 9,339,938 9,597,691

Taxicard 156,800 156,997 206,800

Highways Maintenance 14,452,956 11,870,483 10,958,683

Street Trees 377,817 357,464 349,212

Lighting, traffic signs, pedestrian crossings 552,644 728,714 982,990

Total Surplus £25,437,560 £23,153,596 £22,795,376

Page 64



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/1926

Penalty charges 
The amount a council may charge for a PCN is set 
by London Councils TEC, agreed by the Mayor of 
London and ratified by the Secretary of State and 
this is reviewed every four years. 

As the demand for road space and parking is more 
intense towards the centre of London, PCN charges 
are generally higher in Central and Inner London. 
The whole of Hammersmith & Fulham is in the 
highest parking charge band, Band A. 

On 15 April 2011 the Band A penalty charges were 
set at:

• Higher rate - £130 reduced to £65 if paid within 
14 days 

• Lower rate - £80 reduced to £40 if paid within 
14 days

These charges have not increased since then.

Payment of PCNs
If a vehicle owner pays a PCN within 14 days of 
the date of issue, a 50 per cent discount applies. 
Representations that we receive within the initial 
14-day period can result in us cancelling a PCN, 
but if we decide not to cancel the PCN, we allow a 
further 14 days from the decision date for payment 
to be made at the reduced rate. 

PCN recovery rate 
Recovery rate is calculated as the number of PCNs 
paid (in part or in full) as a percentage of PCNs 
issued. Hammersmith & Fulham’s recovery rates for 
2018 – 2019 was 77%

PCNs 
Issued 
2018 - 
2019

HF 
LLAA 
CCTV 
MV

HF RTA 
BUS

HF TMA 
CCTV

HF TMA 
HH TOTAL

No. Higher 
level issued 61,747 20,495 0 122,103 204,345

No. Lower 
level issued N/A N/A N/A 26,703 26,703

    231,048

PCNs Paid 

HF 
LLAA 
CCTV 
MV

HF RTA 
BUS

HF TMA 
CCTV

2018 - 2019

Total number of PCNs paid 54,974 16,223 187

No. of PCNs paid at discount 50,616 14,462 163

No. of PCNs paid at face value 1,694 1,156 10

No. of PCNs paid at Charge 
Certificate 1,448 259 5

No. of PCNs where a 
representation was made 4,744 462 21

No. of representations that are 
rejected 4,411 411 21

No. of vehicles removed N/A N/A N/A

Appeals and Adjudication

Appeals and Adjudication

 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 

No. of appeals 
received 1019 893 1250

Ratio of 
appeals to 
PCNs issued 0.44% 0.37% 0.47%

Appeals not 
contested 163 134 124

Appeals 
allowed by 
Adjudicator 337 302 354

Appeals 
refused by 
Adjudicator 663 628 772

Note: figures reflect activity throughout the year

Page 65



ANNUAL PARKING REPORT 2018/19 27

Annual statistics on civil 
enforcement officers’ safety
Unfortunately, CEOs are subject to high levels 
of abuse and assault, both verbal and physical, 
whilst carrying out their duties. In order to provide 
support to CEOs our contractor has implemented 
an alarm system that can be sent by personal radio 
to their control room.

• Code Yellow is sent by a CEO when he or she is 
being subjected to an intense verbal assault that 
could become physical. CEOs are encouraged 
to distance themselves from the person who is 
abusing them at this point

• Code Red is sent when a CEO has been 
subjected to a physical assault or feels that 
it is imminent. If a Code Red is broadcast all 
CEOs and mobile units in the area will move to 
provide support to the threatened CEO

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17

Code red 30 10 11

Code yellow 12 12 20

All of our Civil Enforcement Officers wear a body 
camera whilst on patrol of the Borough. If a 
staff member feels that their personal safety is in 
danger, they will advise the member of the public 
that they will start recording the interaction. Such 
efforts can potentially defuse a volatile situation, 
and in a worst-case scenario, provide extensive 
evidence for the police to use in prosecution 
proceedings against the aggressor.

Page 66



36
2.

40
. 2

01
9.

Page 67



Community Safety and Environment PAC Work Programme 2019/20 
 
 
 

31 March 2020 

7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Electrical Vehicle Charging Ian Hawthorne To receive an update on the installation of Electrical 
Charging Points across the borough. 

RIPA Felicity Charles To consider how well the current network is working 
(particularly in assisting the police) and also to get an 
idea on what plans there are to expand the coverage 

 

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 7


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 2020 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
	Appendix 1 -
	Appendix 2
	App 3 Env EIA Draft 20-21

	5 Review of Council Response to Modern Slavery
	6 Parking Enforcement in the Borough
	362_40ds_LBHF Annual Parking Report

	7 Work Programme and Dates of Future Meetings

